PREME COURT GLI

There were

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court No. 87,351

Complainant,

Florida Bar File No. 96-50,589(7I)

v.

FRANK THOMAS, 11,

Respondent.

## THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

DAVID M. BARNOVITZ #0335551 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5839

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## Case

The bar's complaint was filed on February 7, 1996. It consisted of three (3) counts, the first of which charged respondent with violations of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(c) by the intentional misrepresentation to a client regarding a disbursement set forth on a personal injury settlement closing statement, the second of which charged respondent with a violation of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.5(f)(4) by respondent's charging a contingent fee in excess of that permitted by the cited rule and the third of which charged respondent with violations of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.15(b) and 5-1.1by failing to account to and pay to his client that which his client was entitled to and misappropriating funds entrusted to him.

Respondent filed an answer denying the charged violations. After a full, plenary hearing, the referee filed a report in which he recommended that respondent be found guilty of violating Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.5(f)(4) and 5-1.1 and not guilty of violating any of the other rules charged as hereinabove recited. The referee has recommended that the respondent receive a public reprimand, make restitution of an excessive fee to his client and pay the bar's costs.

At its regular September, 1996 meeting, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to seek review of the referee's recommendations.

## <u>Facts</u>

Heretofore, on or about March 30, 1992, one Helene Rottblatt [hereinafter called "Rottblatt"] slipped and **fell** sustaining personal injuries. [Admitted in respondent's answer]. Respondent undertook representation of Rottblatt in connection with a claim to recover damages for the personal injuries sustained by Rottblatt in the slip and fall case [Admitted in respondent's answer],

Respondent effected a settlement in Rottblatt's slip and fall case and confirmed the same with Rottblatt by letter to her dated June 23, 1995 [Bar's Exhibit 4 in evidence; 157<sup>1</sup>]. In such letter, respondent represented to Rottblatt, inter alia, as follows:

Enclosed are the following:

1. Aetna's check made payable to 'HELENE ROTTBLATT A SINGLE WOMAN AND THOMAS & THOMAS HER ATTY" in the amount of \$21,000. As you know, this claim was settled for \$16,000.00. The additional \$5,000.00 is the Med Pay amount due Dr. Yehudian. Please endorse this check and return it to me for deposit into our trust account and appropriate disbursement.

Respondent prepared and presented to Rottblatt a closing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All number references are to pages of transcript of final hearing unless otherwise denoted.

statement executed by Rottblatt on June 28, 1995 [Bar's Exhibit 6 in evidence; 1641. The statement shows, as follows:

#### SETTLEMENT STATEMENT

Net Recovery after Expenses

Note: All medical obligations for both claims are paid in full. Dated: 6/28/95 /s/HELENE ROTTBLATT

\$10,307,00

Respondent subtracted the \$10,693.00 in deductions reflected in the closing statement [Exhibit 2] and remitted the balance of the total settlement recovery in the sum of \$10,307.00 to Rottblatt [Admitted in respondent's answer; 164].

On or about July 24, 1995, respondent remitted to Irage Yehudian, M.D. the sum of \$3,100.00 by a trust account check upon which respondent indicated "Payment of final bill - Rottblatt" [Bar's Exhibit 11 in evidence; 1801.

Respondent retained for his own use and purposes \$1,900.00 of the \$5,000.00 represented by respondent to Rottblatt as dedicated to Dr. Yehudian in respondent's June 23, 1995 letter [Bar's Exhibit 4 in evidence] and in the settlement statement prepared by respondent, presented to Rottblatt by respondent and executed by her on June 28, 1995 [Bar's Exhibit 6 in evidence]. While respondent denied this allegation in his answer, he admitted that he retained such \$1,900.00 upon the final hearing [180].

Respondent's retention of the \$1,900.00 as aforesaid, was without the knowledge, permission or consent by Rottblatt [47-52].

At the time respondent represented to Rottblatt in his June 23. 1995 letter to her [Bar's Exhibit 4 in evidence] that "The additional \$5,000.00 is the Med Pay amount due Dr. Yehudian" and at the time respondent presented the settlement statement [Bar's Exhibit 6 in evidence] to Rottblatt which recited "Less Med Pay to Dr. Irage Yehudian \$5,000.000", respondent knew that in truth and in fact Dr. Yehudian had agreed to accept \$3,100.00 in full payment of Rottblatt's bill, respondent knew that he intended to pay to Dr. Yehudian \$3,100.00 and not the \$5,000.00 represented in his letter settlement statement respondent and and knew that his representations in his letter and settlement statement were false. These allegations were established by the following clear and convincing evidence.

Dr. Yehudian had, prior to his receipt of respondent's \$3,100.00 trust account check [Bar's Exhibit 11 in evidence],

received a total of \$4,900.00 represented by two additional checks, both dated July 11, 1995, one in the amount of \$2,358.00 and the other in the amount of \$2,542.00 [See Bar's Exhibits 9 and 10 in evidence; 173, 175]. When the \$3,100.00 trust account check remitted by respondent to Dr. Yehudian [Bar's Exhibit 11 in evidence] is added to the \$4,900.00 previously received by Dr. Yehudian, the total received by Dr. Yehudian amounts to \$8,000.00. By a fax communication to Dr. Yehudian dated June 21, 1995 [Bar's Exhibit 8 in evidence; 172], which communication was prior to his June 23, 1995 letter to Rottblatt and the June 28, 1995 settlement statement, respondent confirmed with Dr. Yehudian that the doctor had agreed to accept total medical fees of \$8,000.00, thus producing the \$3,100.00 balance actually paid by respondent and received by the doctor. Respondent knew at the time that he directed his June 21, 1995 fax to Dr. Yehudian that Dr. Yehudian had received \$4,900.00 and would only receive \$3,100.00 from the settlement proceeds. Respondent testified:

Q. And the \$3,100?

A. And the \$3,100, that is when he told me he would accept that. I confirmed it by fax to him and that was all pursuant to my agreement with Helene Roth or Ms. Rottblatt prior to the settlement [171].

At the same time respondent was representing Rottblatt in

connection with her slip and fall case, respondent was also representing her in connection with a claim to recover for personal injuries she had sustained as a result of an automobile accident [150]. Respondent's firm secured two (2) separate contingent fee agreements, one relating to the March 30, 1992 slip and fall case [Bar's Exhibit 3 in evidence; 151] and the other relating to the January 6, 1992 auto accident [Bar's Exhibit 2 in evidence; 151], Each such contingent fee agreement restricts fees to the amount of recovery in the specifically referred to case. The two checks totaling the \$4,900.00 [Bar's Exhibits 9 and 10 in evidence] received by Dr. Yehudian were remitted as PIP payments in connection with the auto accident, not the slip and fall case [172 Each such check was remitted by the auto insurance - 174]. carrier, Amico. The slip and fall case settlement proceeds were remitted by Aetna [See Bar's Exhibit 5 in evidence]. Thus, the total slip and fall proceeds remitted to respondent amounted to \$21,000.00 as reflected by the settlement check [Bar's Exhibit 5 in evidence] and by the settlement statement prepared by respondent [Bar's Exhibit 6 in evidence]. Applying the one-third contingent fee percentage to the \$16,000.00 net settlement proceeds as reflected on respondent's settlement statement produces a fee of \$5,333.00 as computed by respondent [See Bar's Exhibit 6 in

evidence]. Respondent, concededly, took \$5,333.00 plus \$1,900.00, or \$7,233.00.

Respondent never accounted to his client regarding the disbursement of the \$1,900.00 to himself from the \$5,000.00 he twice represented to her as a payment to Dr. Yehudian. Respondent could point to no documentation establishing such accounting. Ms. Rottblatt testified, as follows:

Q. When is the first time that you became aware of a problem with the settlement, approximately?

A. When I returned from New York around August 31st I called Doctor Irage Yehudian and told him that I was back from New York, and the case was settled, and I understand that he got the check for \$5,000 from Frank Thomas. And I spoke with his bookkeeper who said to me, we never got a check for \$5,000.

so I --

Q. What is his bookkeeper's name? I'm sorry to interrupt you. Do you remember?

A. Julie.

Q. Okay.

A. So I became very upset and I went over to Frank Thomas' office and I asked him what happened with the \$5,000 that you wrote to me in the letter and told me on the phone that was earmarked for Doctor Yehudian in settlement of his bill?

And he said, I paid him.

I said, well, according to Julie, his secretary, that is not the amount that you paid him.

And he immediately got very loud, started shouting at me, got very defensive, started waving his hands around, and told me that his secretary was out to lunch and when she comes back if he has to ask her to look for **a** copy of the check, he wants somebody to pay \$150 an hour for the time it takes to look for that check.

And I guess that somebody - I assume that somebody was going to have to be me. And that to me was very out of the ordinary. If he had paid the amount to Doctor Yehudian that he said he did, why wouldn't he then just show me

**a** copy of the check. Why was he telling me I'd have to pay \$150 an hour and he doesn't know how long it would take to find it.

So I knew right away that he was trying to hide something. And his behavior was such that it frightened me a little that he reacted so.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The findings of fact reported by the referee are grounded in clear and convincing evidence adduced at the final hearing. When such findings are compared, however, with the referee's recommendations as to guilt and his recommended sanction, an inexplicable oxymoron is confronted. The referee's findings of fact clearly and convincingly establish each and every rule violation charged in the bar's complaint and dictate a sanction of disbarment.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE FINDINGS OF FACT RECITED BY THE REFEREE CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY ESTABLISH ALL VIOLATIONS CHARGED BY THE BAR.

Respectfully, the referee's findings of fact simply do not jibe with his recommendations regarding guilt. In fact, even the predicate statements in his recommendations regarding guilt are inconsistent with his conclusions.

The bar charged that respondent violated Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3-4.3 [conduct contrary to honesty and justice] and 4-8.4(c) [conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation] by knowingly representing to Rottblatt, first in his June 23, 1995 letter that "The additional \$5,000.00 is the Med Pay amount due Dr. Yehudian" and then in the June 28, 1995 settlement statement "Less Med Pay to Dr. Irage Yehudian \$5,000.00" when at the **time** of each such representation respondent knew that, in truth and in fact, Dr. Yehudian was to receive only \$3,100.00 and by respondent's pocketing the \$1,900.00 difference.

After meticulously reciting each and every fact regarding respondent's representations to Rottblatt [See Report of Referee, pages 2 through 4; paragraphs II(H) through II(M), inclusive], the referee then found:

Ν. Respondent was aware when he sent the June 23, 1995 letter to Rottblatt stating "The additional \$5,000.00 is the Med Pay amount due Dr. Yehudian" and when Rottblatt signed the closing statement stating "Less Med Pay to Dr. Irage Yehudian \$5,000.00". that Dr. Yehudian was owed, in truth and in fact, only \$3,100.00 since respondent knew that Dr. Yehudian would be paid approximately \$4,900.00 by AMICA, Rottblatt's automobile insurance carrier. Additionally, respondent knew at said time, as confirmed by his fax dated June 21, 1995 to Yehudian, that Dr. Yehudian agreed to Dr. receive \$8,000.00 as total payment for his treatment of Rottblatt [Report of Referee,

## page 41.

In his recommendations regarding guilt, the referee recites: A. While this court finds that at the time respondent represented to Rottblatt by means of the letter dated June 23, 1995 and in the closing statement that he prepared that Dr. Yehudian was due \$5,000.00, when in truth and

in fact respondent knew Dr. Yehudian was only owed \$3,100.00, this court does not find respondent guilty of a violation of Rules 3-4.3 or 4-8.4(c) [Report of Referee, page 6; paragraph III(A)].

In the bar's view, the referee's exoneration of respondent vis a vis Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3-4.3 and 4-8.4(c) is belied by the record and by the referee's own findings and observations.

The bar charged respondent with a violation of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.15(b) which rule mandates that a lawyer 'shall promptly deliver to the client or third person any funds or other property that the client or third person is entitled In his findings of fact, the referee to receive . . ." specifically recites that respondent not, under was any circumstances, entitled to the \$1,900.00 difference between the \$5,000.00 he represented to his client as being paid to Dr. Yehudian and the \$3,100.00 actually paid to the doctor with respondent pocketing the difference [See Report of Referee, pages 5 and 6; paragraphs II(R) through II(U), inclusive]. He then recites:

> V. This court finds that by retaining the \$1,900.00 due Rottblatt, respondent took money

entrusted to him for a specific purpose, and did not apply said money for that purpose

[Report of Referee, page 6; paragraph II(V) I.

In his recommendations regarding guilt, however, the referee reports:

C. As to Count III, this Court finds respondent not guilty of a violation of Rule 4-1.15(b), but finds respondent guilty of a violation of Rule 5-1.1 [Report of Referee,

page 7; paragraph III(C)].

As in the case of his findings regarding the charges of dishonesty, the referee's conclusions regarding the 4-1.15(b) charge axe inconsistent. Having found that respondent was not entitled to pocket the \$1,900.00 and that his retention thereof amounted to a breach of a specific entrustment in violation of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 5-1.1, it is respectfully submitted that there could be no other conclusion but that respondent violated his duty promptly to remit the \$1,900.00 to his client as mandated by Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-1.15(b) and, ironically, as directed by the referee in his recommendations as to disciplinary measures to be applied [See Report of Referee, page 7; paragraph IV(2).

## II. RESPONDENT'S MISREPRESENTATIONS AND MISAPPROPRIATION WARRANT IMPOSITION OF THE SANCTION OF DISBARMENT.

Distilled to its basics, the facts established below, as reported by the referee present a respondent who misrepresented to a client the distribution of settlement proceeds and then misappropriated a portion of such proceeds. Such misconduct, it is respectfully submitted, warrants disbarment.

In **Florida Bar V. Schiller**, 537 so. 2d 992 (Fla. 1989), this Court reiterated that upon a finding of misuse or misappropriation there is a presumption of disbarment, With three (3) dissents for disbarment, the Court, in **Florida Bar V. McShirley**, 573 So. 2d 807 (Fla. 1991), imposed **a** three (3) year suspension in a misappropriation case where there was restitution prior to bar involvement, remorse, cooperation and lack of client harm. In the case at bar, however, there has been no restitution [See Report of Referee, page 5; paragraph II(T)]. Certainly, respondent's client has suffered harm by not receiving the \$1,900.00 skimmed by respondent from the designated medical payment to Dr. Yehudian. The record is devoid of any indication of remorse on respondent's part.

The **Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions** indicate that disbarment is the appropriate sanction. Standard 4.11 recites

that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury. Standard 4.61 recites that disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly or intentionally deceives a client with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another regardless of injury or potential injury.

### CONCLUSION

It would seem axiomatic that in the hierarchy of bar offenses, none could be worse than misrepresenting to and misappropriating from **a** client. Respondent did both. He should be appropriately sanctioned.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

1) and M. Barnovitz #0335