IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court No. 87,351

Florida Bar File No. 96-50,589(171)

vs.

FRANK THOMAS, 11,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

FRANK THOMAS, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 165679 1917 Harrison Street Hollywood, Florida 33020 (954) 920-4283

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS

The case at bar involves respondent's representation of a client in two simultaneous and inseparable claims for personal injuries. The client originally signed two separate, but identical, contingent fee agreements with respondent's brother. Subsequently, with the permission of the client, respondent took over representation of her with regard to both accident claims. Client's first claim involved an automobile accident that occurred on January 6, 1992; the other accident was a slip and fall that occurred three months later on March 30, 1992.

The client failed to seek any form of medical treatment for the auto accident that occurred in January until **after** the slip-and-fall accident that occurred some three months later. There were two treating physicians who simultaneously treated the client for her injuries sustained in both accidents. The medical treatments, procedures, and charges for both accidents ran concurrently and were inseparably intermixed in the medical records.

Further complications with the case were caused by the client's maintenance of two names which made the circumstances appear as if the client were attempting to alter or conceal her injuries. According to Dr. Yehudian's records, the patient's name is reflected as <code>Helene Rottblatt;</code> at Dr. Muransky's office, she was known as <code>Helene Roth</code>.

Several insurance companies were involved in these claims. The liability insurer for Home Savings Bank (where the slip-and-fall accident occurred), the liability insurer for the driver of the

other vehicle in the auto case, and the client's own insurance company, AMICA Mutual Insurance Company, which refused to pay PIP benefits.

For over three years, the respondent futilely devoted considerable time and effort in attempting to separate and obtain accurate medical records from the two treating doctors setting forth the injuries, treatments, and charges for each of the two separate accidents. Volumes of medical records and countless pages of itemized medical statements and bills were reviewed by respondent, item by item. The records were also reviewed by the client, both doctors, and the three respective insurance companies in an unsuccessful attempt to sort and separate the medical information. The medical bills for both accidents proved to be totally inseparable. Even two weeks prior to the settlement of the slip-and-fall case, the respondent sent a handwritten letter to the client still attempting to divide and separate the medical bills. This letter was dated June 1, 1995, 3-1/2 years after the date of the accident and appears as Respondent's Exhibit 3 in the record.

Not only did the problem with the separability of medical information affect the liability insurers for both the slip-and-fall as well **as** the auto accident case, but the client's own <code>insurance</code> company refused to pay any PIP benefits whatsoever to Dr. Yehudian, basing its refusal not only upon the inseparability of the medical bills and treatments, but also the inexplicable reason that the client never sought treatment for the auto accident injuries until three months later after the slip and fall had

occurred. The client's own insurance company further based a portion of its defense upon the client's maintenance of two separate identities in the offices of the two treating physicians which made it appear as though she were hiding the occurrence of the slip-and-fall accident. With regard to the PIP claim alone, respondent prepared countless affidavits, letters, and other documents, and had them signed by both doctors as well as the client in an effort to convince the client's own insurer that the claim for auto accident benefits was a legitimate one. Reams of itemized medical bills were submitted for payment to the client's PIP insurer, but payment was refused. On March 25, 1995, respondent sent a letter to the client's PIP insurer demanding payment of PIP benefits and threatening suit in the event the insurer refused to pay [Respondent's Exhibit 2]. A copy of that letter was sent both to Dr. Yehudian as well as the client as shown in the record [Respondent's Exhibit 2].

Finally, in or about May of 1995, the respondent and client met and a lengthy discussion was had. The complexities of both claims as well as the inseparability of the medical bills and treatments were discussed. Client and respondent agreed that the only possibility of concluding client's slip-and-fall claim was through the use of a "package settlement" between the client's PIP insurer as well as the slip-and-fall liability insurer. With the client's approval, negotiations between respondent and the two respective insurance companies were had. Simultaneously with those discussions, the respondent had many discussions with the two

treating doctors. With the statute of limitations rapidly running, respondent and client knew that it was totally impossible to prove in a court of law which medical bills, treatments and problems were caused as a result of the auto case as opposed to those caused by the slip-and-fall case. After much negotiation, the client's own PIP insurer offered \$4,900.00 and Home Savings Bank's liability insurer offered \$5,000.00 in med pay and \$16,000.00 in liability benefits.

Respondent communicated these offers to the client who agreed At the time, the client knew and to accept those offers. understood, by virtue of her contingency fee agreements and the various discussions she had had with the respondent, that attorney's fees were in the amount of 1/3 of the total amount recovered. It was respondent's idea at that time to negotiate with both doctors with regard to the unpaid balances owed each and to utilize a portion of the amount saved on medical bills for the payment of a portion of client's attorney's fees. The client and respondent fully discussed this, and the client agreed that if she received at least \$10,000 and all medical bills for both accidents were paid in full and the attorney's fees were paid in full for both the slip-and-fall recovery as well as the PIP recovery, she would be delighted with the recovery and consented to it. reasoned that since the med-pay recovery and PIP recovery inured as much in the doctors' benefit as the recovery did to the client's, the doctors should be responsible for payment of a portion of the work required in order to recover those amounts. In fact, the

client admits in the record that a discussion was had wherein this was discussed *prior* to the settlement [page 94, line 11].

Consistent with respondent's agreement with the client, respondent negotiated with both doctors in order to reduce their outstanding medical obligations until Dr. Yehudian's outstanding medical bill of \$11,600.00 was reduced by agreement to \$8,000.00, and Dr. Muransky (who had been paid most of his medical bills by the PIP carrier) agreed to accept \$360.00 as payment in full of the \$4,700.00 outstanding.

Respondent communicated these negotiations and the results to the client who expressed concern that the doctors might later file suit against her with regard to medical bills owing on the auto case. Respondent assured client that agreements with both doctors would by confirmed by facsimile and that all of client's medical bills for both cases were paid in full and, further, that respondent did not charge client 1/3 of the total recovery, but in fact reduced it to a total of \$7,233.00. The client, therefore, would net at least \$10,000 after payment of all of the attorney's fees and all of the medical bills for both the auto case as well as the slip-and-fall case. Consistent with the client's discussion with respondent, respondent sent by facsimile written confirmations to both doctors of the settled amounts and copies were sent by mail to the client. The facsimile to Dr. Yehudian appears as Exhibit 8.

The client knew and consented to all aspects of the settlement, and the settlement was concluded. When respondent subsequently prepared the settlement statement, respondent

negligently failedto reference the \$4,900.00 recovered and did not specifically break down payment of the \$5,000.00 recovered as medical pay. At the time, respondent, looking forward and not back, emphasized more the net recovery to the client of \$10,000, rather than a total breakdown of all amounts recovered. The client's PIP insurer's drafts showing payment of the \$4,900.00 sent pursuant to the "package settlement' on July 11, 1995, appears as Exhibits 9 and 10 in the record. Any omissions in the settlement statement were not in any way intentional, and since respondent charged less than 1/3 of the amount recovered, certainly was not being done to cheat or deceive the client.

Subsequently, the case was fully settled and distributions were made in accordance with the entire settlement agreement, every individual receiving exactly the amount agreed to.

Several weeks after settlement and distribution of the proceeds, the client came into respondent's office, stating to respondent that although she agreed to payment to the respondent for the PIP benefits as well as the med-pay benefits recovered, the client had spoken to "other attorneys" and been informed that it is illegal for an attorney to charge a fee for any amounts recovered and used for payment of medical bills. Respondent attempted at the time to explain to her that if payment is contested by the insurance company, any amounts recovered fall within the contingent fee agreement, and, further, that it is not illegal for attorneys to charge fees for services rendered in recovering sums used for payment of the client's medical obligations. The client

steadfastly insisted she was entitled to the \$1,900.00 paid as attorney's fees from the medical recovery and told the respondent that if those monies were given to her, "this matter would go no further" [page 84, line 17; page 56, line 19; page 138, line 6]. In fact, the client, throughout the record, states again and again that attorneys are not permitted to charge fees for recoveries of medical bills [page 48, line 21; page 69, line 19; page 70, line 23; page 74, line 1; page 74, line 12; page 77, line 20; page 93, line 17; page 109, line 20]. Respondent, knowing that attorneys ethically and legally may charge for recoveries of contested medical bills, refused to refund the agreed upon fees to the client.

The client left respondent's office and subsequently filed a complaint with The Florida Bar, but this time she had been "coached" by a friend attorney and changed the basis of her complaint to a new theory, the failure to disclose and intentional misrepresentation. Since the filing of the original complaint, The Florida Bar has charged the respondent with various acts of intentional concealment, fraud, and dishonesty.

RESPONDENT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its complaint on February 7, 1996, alleging several counts, all of which charged the respondent with intentional misrepresentation to the client, intentional misappropriation of funds, and other intentional acts of fraud and dishonesty. During the entire proceeding, The Florida Bar has taken the position that the \$4,900.00 recovered, since it was recovered from the client's auto insurer, was totally unrelated to the slip-and-fall case and, therefore, has nothing whatsoever to do with the slip-and-fall recovery.

After full hearing and consideration of all the facts, the trier of fact ruled that respondent's actions were the result of negligence in combining the two distinct cases and were not the result of intentional acts of dishonesty. The referee recommended that respondent receive a public reprimand, make restitution of the \$1,900.00 with interest thereon to the client, and pay The Florida Bar's costs.

Respondent thereafter filed a petition for review, but withdrew it, sending a letter to The Florida Bar dated September 27, 1996, stating that respondent was willing to comply with the terms of the referee's order. A copy of that letter has been attached to this brief. The Florida Bar's only response was the filing of its Petition for Review and the Brief filed approximately five (5) days later.

RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT

ISSUE

1. WERE THE FINDINGS OF FACT ARRIVED AT BY THE TRIER OF FACT SUFFICIENTLY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?

Findings of fact arrived at by the referee enjoy the same presumption of correctness as a judgment of a trier of fact in a civil proceeding [Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(A)]. The referee's findings should be upheld unless there is a total lack of evidence to support the findings [The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So. 2d 700 (1978 Fl.]. The trier of fact in the case under advisement found that the respondent did not engage in conduct contrary to honesty and, therefore, could not have been guilty of engaging in conduct constituting dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation [page 235, line 2]. The trier of fact further concluded that respondent's problems were caused by the mixing of the auto accident case with the slip-and-fall [page 232, line 8]. referee acknowledged the confusing and complicated nature of the case [page 234, line 20] and found that any violations that may have been committed by the respondent were the result of negligence and not of an intentional act of dishonesty [page 245, line 12]. The trier of fact stated, "I have stated that I don't think that the facts warrant disbarment in this particular case. I think this is more of a negligence type of situation, , . . " [page 245, line 9].

The findings of fact arrived at by Judge Roger B. Colton that respondent did not intentionally deceive the client are

substantially supported by the evidence. Judge Roger B. Colton based his findings of fact upon the testimony and all of the evidence in its totality [page 34, line 20]. A responsibility of the trier of fact is to decide which of the witnesses testifying is telling the truth and which is not. Although client did an excellent job of repeatedly parroting instructions she learned from her "coach," she stated material facts that were later shown to be contrary to the truth. In attempting to learn why client changed her story, the respondent asked client, with regard to the complaint filed:

- Q. Who typed this for you, by the way?
- A. What relevance is that?
- Q. Because I asked you. Did somebody type this for you or did you type it?
- A. Somebody typed it for me.
- O. Who?
- A. Am I obligated to answer that?
- Ms. Quintela. Yes, sure you can answer that.

The witness. An attorney.

Mr. Thomas. who? What's his name.

- A. A friend.
- Q. Well, that wasn't the question. I mean, who typed this for you?
- A. In an attorney's office, I had it typed.
- Q. What's the attorney's name?
- A. Am I obligated to answer that?

Ms. Quintela. Yes. I don't represent you. So, I can't . . . , you know. I really can't tell you. But that's a reasonable question.

The witness. Neil Milestone. [page 99, line 2]

Additionally, the client making an extra effort to convince the bar that respondent intentionally embezzled the funds, set forth in her original sworn complaint to The Florida Bar and later testified under oath that she only received the settlement statement from the respondent long after the proceeds of the settlement had been distributed [page 87, line 25]. In fact, this was a lie. She signed the settlement statement and she inserted the date on it a full month before the settlement proceeds were distributed [page 89, line 1; also, Florida Bar Exhibits 5, 6 and 7]. Again, in her complaint, she attempted to convey the idea to the bar association that she was kept in the dark as to the terms of the settlement.

With regard to the PIP recovery, she testified that she only learned of the \$4,900.00 PIP recovery when she visited Dr. Yehudian's office long after the settlement had been concluded and all disbursements had been made (page 118, line 1; page 120, line 22; page 121, line 1). In reality, not only was she told about the PIP recovery by the respondent prior to the settlement, she was also sent a letter directly from her own insurance company advising her of the payment of the \$4,900.00 [Respondent's Exhibit 1]. After being shown the letter, she reluctantly admits that she did, in fact, receive it [page 121, line 18]. Notwithstanding the battle with her PIP carrier that continued for

3-1/2 years, prior to making the \$4,900 recovery, the client denies under oath that the benefits recovered were recovered by the respondent [page 72, line 5; page 74, line 12]. However, client was sent a copy of Respondent's formal demand for payment of PIP benefits dated March 29, 1995. In that letter demand was made for payment of PIP benefits (some 3-1/2 years after the accident) and suit was threatened if not paid [Respondent's Exhibit 2; page 76, line 19].

The client again lied to the bar association in her complaint when she complains of the \$360.00 used to pay Dr. Muransky. She alleges this to be improper, since the payment was for the "auto case" and not the slip and fall. However, the client signed the settlement statement [Florida Bar's Exhibits 5 and 6] which unequivocally shows that she knew of and consented to the payment of "all medical obligations for both claims."

The client further, again under oath, denied that she maintains two separate identities. On page 126, line 25 of the record, she states, "I never have maintained two separate identities. I'm only one person." Thereafter, "My name is Helene Rottblatt" [page 127, line 4], but after being faced with numerous documents showing this to be untrue, the client finally admits that she uses both identifies [page 130, line 16] and, in fact, uses the name Helene Roth in her apartment lease in the state of New York [page 131, line 20], as well as her bank accounts at Home Savings.

These inconsistencies and outright lies were, no doubt, considered and weighed by Judge Colton in arriving at his factual findings.

The Florida Bar has cited Florida Bar v. Schiller, 537 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 1989), as authority supporting its position that the respondent in this case should be disbarred; that a public reprimand is not enough. However, in the <u>Schiller</u> case, the facts were entirely different from the facts presented in this case. In the <u>Schiller</u> case, the attorney, over a five-year period, committed numerous multiple and intentional acts of embezzlement. The violations were intentional and he knew he was committing an offense when he took the funds. Notwithstanding those facts, the court refused to disbar attorney Schiller, since he proved to the court that he would not commit further offenses in the future.

In the case at bar, there was a genuine fee dispute that, had the client been honest, would have been resolved as such in a court of law. Instead, the client received assistance from a friend attorney [page 118, line 10] who not only told her what to say in order to have the bar association pursue the matter for her, but also took the time and trouble to type the complaint to The Florida Bar for her. In fact, as previously pointed out, the client was extremely uncooperative in furnishing that attorney's name despite being told to do so twice by The Florida Bar's attorney. If the client truly believed in her original position that attorneys are not allowed by law to charge a fee for recoveries made and utilized for payment of medical obligations, then why was it necessary for

her to change her "story?" If the incident occurred the way the client stated it did, wouldn't the respondent have given the money back to the client when given the opportunity by the client and, according to the client's testimony, "the matter would have ended there" [page 119, line 23; page 138, line 6; page 194, line 1; page 195, line 1]. Isn't it strange that the client knew exactly what to say in her complaint and knew of the existence and procedure for filing a claim with the Client Security Fund [page 217, line 1]? The trier of fact, furthermore, reasoned that a thief usually steals "more" than he is entitled to rather than less.

The total recovery in this cause was \$25,900.00. No one disputes that that amount was recovered. The Florida Bar has taken the position that since \$4,900.00 was paid for by the auto insurance company, it must, therefore, have nothing whatsoever to do with the slip-and-fall case. This is totally untrue and has as much to do with the slip-and-fall case as the medical pay paid for by the bank's liability insurance company. The Florida Bar contends, on page 6 of its Brief:

The two checks totaling the \$4,900.00 (Bar's Exhibits 9 and 10 in evidence) received by Dr. Yehudian were remitted as PIP payments in connection with the auto accident, not the slip-and-fall case.

This has consistently been The Florida Bar's position which is totally contrary to the evidence as well as to the facts in the case. There is absolutely no evidence whatsoever that of the medical bills outstanding, exactly \$5,000.00 represented an outstanding balance owed for the slip-and-fall injuries and \$4,900.00 was owed for the outstanding auto case medical bills.

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